S207173

Case No.	S	
----------	---	--

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TUOLUMNE JOBS & SMALL BUSINESS ALLIANCE,

Petitioner,

V.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF TUOLUMNE COUNTY,

Respondent,

WAL-MART STORES, INC.; JAMES GRINNELL,

Real Parties in Interest.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Fifth Appellate District Case No. F063849 SUPREME COURT FILED

DEC -7 2012

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

RUTAN & TUCKER, LLP JOHN A. RAMIREZ (SBN 184151) ROBERT S. BOWER (SBN 70234) PETER J. HOWELL (SBN 227636) 611 Anton Boulevard, Suite 1400 Costa Mesa, California 92626-1931 Telephone: 714-641-5100

Attorneys for Real Party in Interest JAMES GRINNELL

I. QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is a city council's adoption of a voter-sponsored initiative subject to only those procedures authorized by Article II, section 11(a) of the California Constitution and set forth in the Elections Code, or is such an action subject to the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA") (Pub. Resources Code §§ 21000 et seq.)?
- 2. Assuming *arguendo* that the adoption of a voter-sponsored initiative is not governed exclusively by the Elections Code, is a city council's adoption of a voter-sponsored initiative pursuant to Article II, section 11(a) of the California Constitution and Elections Code section 9214 "ministerial," and therefore exempt from CEQA pursuant to Public Resources Code 21080(b)(1)?

II. REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

This case involves a challenge to the City Council of the City of Sonora's ("City") adoption of a voter-sponsored initiative processed, circulated, and qualified pursuant to Article II, section 11(a) of the California Constitution and Elections Code sections 9200 *et seq*. The voter-sponsored initiative consisted of a proposed "specific plan" that authorized the expansion of an existing Wal-Mart store at an existing shopping center located within the City ("Initiative"). After the Initiative was circulated among the voters and deemed to have "qualified" by being signed by fifteen percent of the City's voters, the City adopted the Initiative pursuant to Elections Code section 9214(a).

A. <u>Issue No. 1: Whether the Adoption of a Voter-Sponsored Initiative is Subject to Only the Procedures Set Forth in the Elections Code or Whether CEQA Applies.</u>

Under the California Constitution, the voters of the State have reserved to themselves the power to directly legislate through the initiative process. With respect to general law cities such as the City, this reservation of the initiative power is found in Article II, section 11(a):

"(a) Initiative and referendum powers may be exercised by the electors of each city and county under procedures that the Legislature shall provide."

In a series of cases going back nearly half a century, this Court and the Courts of Appeal have held that the "procedures" provided by the

Legislature pursuant to Article II, section 11(a) to facilitate the voters' exercise of their reserved initiative powers are set forth exclusively in the Elections Code. These decisions have uniformly held that different procedural requirements found in statutory schemes other than the Elections Code that otherwise apply to legislative action undertaken by the elected governing body, do not apply to the voters exercising their reserved initiative powers.

For example, in *Associated Homebuilders, Inc. v. City of Livermore* (1976) 18 Cal. 3d 582, this Court held that "notice and hearing" requirements applicable to certain types of land use decisions proposed to be undertaken by a city council, do not apply to the voters' exercise of the initiative process involving precisely the same subject matters. (*Id.* at 596.) Foreshadowing the present Petition, the dissent in *Associated Homebuilders* recognized that the rule of law established by the majority opinion was that a city council could adopt a voter-sponsored initiative pursuant to what is now Elections Code section 9214(a), and that CEQA would have no application in that context. (*Id.* at 613-615.)

Throughout the years, this Court and the Courts of Appeal have followed *Associated Homebuilders*, holding that the "exclusive" procedures governing the circulation, qualification, and adoption of votersponsored initiatives are set forth in the Elections Code. (*See, e.g.*, *Chandis Securities Co. v. City of Dana Point* (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 475,

486; Building Industry Association v. City of Camarillo (1986) 41 Cal.3d 810, 823-24.)

On the issue of whether CEQA applies to a voter-sponsored initiative, this Court directly addressed the issue in *DeVita v. County of Napa* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 763, in the context of a voter-sponsored county initiative that was placed on the ballot and adopted by the voters. This Court held that CEQA did not apply. (*Id.* at 793-795.)

While practitioners, public agencies, and initiative proponents have long understood that the rationale of *Associated Homebuilders* and *DeVita* compels the conclusion that a city council's adoption of a voter-sponsored initiative (as opposed to placing such a measure on the ballot for voter consideration) is also exempt from CEQA, this Court has never directly addressed that issue.¹

Indeed, prior to the Opinion, the only other court to directly address the issue of whether a voter-sponsored initiative adopted by a city council pursuant to Elections Code section 9214(a) is subject to CEQA, is the Fourth Appellate District in *Native American Sacred Site and Environmental Protection Association v. City of San Juan Capistrano*

1032/029736-0001 4260196.7 a12/05/12

For example, in *Mervyn's v. Reyes* (1998) 69 Cal.App.4th 93, 98, the city council adopted a voter-sponsored initiative pursuant to Elections Code section 9214(a). Although the initiative was vigorously challenged in litigation, the question of CEQA applicability was not even raised.

(2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 961 ("NASSEPA"). The Fourth District held that CEQA did not apply. (*Id.* at 965-969.)

The Opinion is in direct conflict with *NASSEPA*, and review by this Court is critical to securing uniformity of decision and to settle this important question of law. Indeed, the Opinion itself expressly acknowledges that it is in direct conflict with *NASSEPA*:

"We publish the portion of our opinion dealing with this issue because it creates a split of authority, as we respectfully decline to follow Native American Sacred Site and Environmental Protection Assn. v. City of San Juan Capistrano (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 961."

(Opinion, pp. 2-3.)

This singular legal issue -- *i.e.*, whether a city council's adoption of a voter-sponsored initiative pursuant to Elections Code section 9214(a) is subject to CEQA -- is of broad constitutional interest to citizens, public agencies, public interest groups, trade associations, and business groups throughout the State. Each election cycle, voters in local jurisdictions throughout the State circulate dozens of land use initiatives that purport to restrict and/or authorize land development. Some election cycles have witnessed upward of 60 local land use measures qualifying in jurisdictions throughout the state. (*See, e.g., Land Use Woes Hit Home*, William Fulton, California Journal (December 2000); *The Local Initiative in California*, Tracy M. Gordon, Public Policy Institute of California (2004)

[between 1990 and 2000 over 730 local initiatives were circulated throughout the State, most of which dealt with land development issues; between 75% (city) and 80% (county) of those initiatives qualified for immediate adoption or placement on the ballot]; *California Planning and Development Review*, Vol. 28, No. 10 (October 2012) [noting that approximately 22 local land use initiatives were circulated and qualified for the November ballot in California].)

Moreover, the precise issue of whether a city council's adoption of a voter-sponsored initiative is subject to CEQA is also currently pending before the Sixth District Court of Appeal in *Milpitas Coalition for a Better Community v. City of Milpitas*, Court of Appeal Case No. H038380.

Review by this Court is necessary to secure uniformity of decision and to settle this important issue of law.

B. <u>Issue No. 2: If a City Council's Adoption of a Voter-Sponsored Initiative is Not Governed Exclusively by the Elections Code, is Such an Action Otherwise "Ministerial" Within the Meaning of Public Resources Code Section 21080(b)(1)?</u>

Should the Court determine that the Elections Code does not provide the exclusive procedure for processing a voter-sponsored initiative, a second issue requiring review by this Court is whether a city council's adoption of a voter-sponsored initiative pursuant to Elections Code sections 9214, is "ministerial," and therefore not subject to CEQA.

CEQA expressly provides that its provisions do not apply to ministerial projects. (Pub. Res. Code § 21080(b)(1).) Thus, even assuming arguendo that the procedures set forth in the Elections Code are not the "exclusive" procedures that govern a city council's processing of a voter-sponsored initiative, a city council's adoption of a voter-sponsored initiative would still be exempt from CEQA if that adoption is "ministerial" rather than "discretionary." Again, this Court has never squarely addressed this issue in the context of the facts presented in this case.

The dispositive factor relied upon by this Court in determining whether CEQA applies has been whether the ballot measure is a *voter-sponsored initiative* or a *city-council-generated ballot measure*. The Court has not focused on who approves the measure. Thus, in *Friends of Sierra Madre v. City of Sierra Madre* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 165, this Court held that a city council's decision to place a city-council-generated ballot measure on the ballot was "discretionary" because the city council had discretion to "do nothing," and was not acting in response to a voter-sponsored initiative, and thus was not bound by Elections Code section 9214(a) to either adopt it unchanged or submit it to a vote of the electorate. (*Id.* at 190-91; n. 16.) Significantly, this Court expressly noted the "clear distinction" between voter-sponsored initiatives versus city-council-generated ballot measures. (*Id.* at 189.)

Although it cites to *Friends of Sierra Madre*, the Opinion does not rely on the voter-sponsored/city-council-generated distinction drawn there. Rather, the Opinion holds that a city council's adoption of a voter-sponsored initiative pursuant to Elections Code 9214(a) is discretionary rather than ministerial, and therefore subject to CEQA. (Opinion, p. 13.)

To reach that holding, the Opinion erroneously relies on CEQA Guidelines section 15378(b)(3). (Opinion at p. 13.) Section 15378(b)(3) simply provides that a "project" does not include the submittal of a votersponsored proposal to a vote of the people. That is the very distinction made in *Friends of Sierra Madre*. However, the Opinion cites that language and then leaps to the conclusion that because section 15378(b)(3) does not expressly mention voter-sponsored initiatives adopted by a city council, CEQA must deem such initiatives to be projects and therefore subject to its provisions.

The Opinion thus effectively applies the rule of statutory construction *expressio unius est exclusio alterius* (the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another). That application is inappropriate for several reasons. First, the Opinion relies not upon the CEQA statutes, but upon a CEQA Guideline developed by the Office of Planning and Research and prescribed by the Secretary of Resources. (14 Cal. Code Regs. § 15000.) No legislative intent to subject voter-sponsored

initiatives adopted by a city council to the provisions of CEQA can be gleaned from this Guideline.

Second, and more importantly, section 15378(b)(3) limits the definition of "project" as it does simply because that was the factual situation presented in the two cases cited in the section: *Friends of Sierra Madre* and *Stein v. City of Santa Monica* (1980) 110 Cal.App.3d 458, 461-62. Both cases dealt with voter-sponsored initiatives submitted to a vote of the electorate. Thus, the fact that the Guideline does not mention voter-sponsored initiatives adopted by a city council hardly evinces an intent (by the Secretary of Resources, much less the Legislature) to exclude that factual scenario from the CEQA exemption described in section 15378(b)(3).

The Opinion is also in direct conflict with the *NASSEPA* decision, which held as follows:

"Public Resources Code section 21080, subdivision (b)(1) states that '[m]inisterial projects proposed to be carried out or approved by public agencies' are not subject to CEQA. . . .

A city's duty to adopt a qualified votersponsored initiative, or place it on the ballot, is ministerial and mandatory."

(NASSEPA, 120 Cal.App.4th at 965; 966.)

For the same reasons set forth above with respect to Issue No. 1, the Opinion is in direct conflict with the *NASSEPA* decision, and review

by this Court is critical to securing uniformity of decision and to settle this important question of law that broadly affect the rights citizens, interest groups, and public agencies throughout the State.

Issue No. 2 is also currently pending before the Sixth District Court of Appeal in *Milpitas Coalition for a Better Community v. City of Milpitas*, Court of Appeal Case No. H038380.

III. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. <u>Factual Background</u>

Wal-Mart proposed expanding its 130,000-square-foot store in the City by constructing a Wal-Mart Supercenter, which would be larger, would sell groceries, and would be open 24 hours a day, seven days a week. The City prepared a draft environmental impact report ("EIR") pursuant to CEQA and circulated it for public comment. The City Planning Commission held a public hearing on the EIR and application, and voted to recommend approval to the City Council. (Appellate Writ Petition, Exhibit Tab 2, p. 3-4; 10 (hereafter "Ex. Tab ___, p. ___").)

In June 2010, before the City Council held hearings on whether to certify the EIR and approve the project, Real Party in Interest James Grinnell ("Grinnell"), on whose behalf this Petition for Review is filed, submitted a "Notice of Intent" to circulate the Initiative pursuant to Elections Code section 9202. Following receipt of Title and Summary and compliance with the publication requirements of Elections Code

voters of the City pursuant to Elections Code 9208. Following the completion of circulation and submission of the Initiative to the county Registrar of Voters, the Registrar determined the Initiative was signed by more than 15% of the City's registered voters in accordance with Elections Code sections 9210 and 9211. (Ex. Tab 2, pp. 3-8; Ex. Tab 3, p. 55.)

Pursuant to Elections Code section 9214, the City Council agendized a public meeting to first consider the Initiative on September 10, 2010. Thereafter, in compliance with Elections Code section 9214(a), the City Council voted to adopt the Initiative "without alteration" on October 18, 2010. (Ex. Tab 2, pp. 7-8; Ex. Tab 3, pp. 68-123.)

B. Procedural Background

Following the City's adoption of the Initiative, an entity called the Tuolumne Jobs & Small Business Alliance ("TJSBA") filed a petition for writ of mandate, alleging the Initiative was invalid because it: (1) violated CEQA; (2) conflicted with the Sonora General Plan; (3) improperly bound future legislative power; and (4) was administrative and therefore not a proper subject for the initiative process. (Opinion, pp. 4-5.)

Wal-Mart, Grinnell, and the City filed demurrers. The superior court sustained Wal-Mart's demurrer with respect to the first, third, and fourth causes of action and overruled it with respect to the second cause of

action. The court also overruled a separate demurrer filed by Grinnell. (*Id.*)

TJSBA filed a petition for writ of mandate in the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, on December 13, 2011. The Court of Appeal ordered briefing and subsequently held a hearing on September 10, 2012. In the published portion of the Opinion, the Court of Appeal issued a writ of mandate overturning the superior court's sustaining of the demurrer without leave to amend on the first cause of action. The Court of Appeal "declined to follow" the *NASSEPA* decision and instead held that a city council's adoption of a voter-sponsored initiative pursuant to Elections Code section 9214(a) was subject to compliance with CEQA.

The Opinion is subject to review by this Court pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rules 8.500(a)(1) and 8.490(b)(2). No petition for rehearing was filed.

IV. <u>DISCUSSION</u>

- A. Review Should Be Granted to Secure Uniformity of
 Decision on Whether City Council Adoption of a VoterSponsored Initiative Pursuant to Elections Code Section
 9214(a) is Subject to CEQA
 - 1. The Opinion Creates an Irreconcilable Conflict
 With a Decision of the Fourth Appellate District

The Opinion stands in direct conflict with the *NASSEPA* decision.

This conflict is direct and irreconcilable, and is expressly acknowledged by the Opinion itself.

Under California law, city voters wishing to exercise their reserved power to legislate through the initiative process provided in Article II, section 11(a) of the Constitution must first draft the proposed legislation and then submit the proposed legislation, along with a "notice of intent to circulate" to the city attorney. (Elec. Code §§ 9201; 9202; 9203)² Following the city attorney's preparation of the title and summary, and following publication of the title and summary and notice of intent, the initiative proponent is free to commence circulation of the initiative among the voters of the jurisdiction. (Elec. Code § 9207.)

After completion of circulation among the voters, the petitions are then filed with and examined by local elections officials to determine whether the initiative has "qualified" by obtaining the signatures of ten or fifteen percent of the voters of the city. (Elec. Code §§ 9210; 9211; 9214; and 9215.) If the initiative is deemed to have been signed by no less than fifteen percent of the voters of the city, then the city council must:

- "(a) Adopt the ordinance, without alteration
- (b) Immediately order a special election
- (c) Order a report pursuant to section 9212 at the regular meeting at which the

The Elections Code contains separate but similar chapters governing state initiatives (*see* Elec. Code §§ 9000-9096), general law county initiatives (*see* Elec. Code §§ 9100-9190), and general law city initiatives (*see* Elec. Code §§ 9200-9295).

certification of the petition is presented. When the report is presented to the legislative body, the legislative body shall either adopt the ordinance within 10 days or order an election pursuant to subdivision (b)."

(Elec. Code § 9214.)

In *NASSEPA*, the city council adopted a voter-sponsored land use initiative pursuant to Elections Code section 9214(a). An environmental group challenged the city council's adoption of the initiative, alleging the council could not adopt the initiative without first complying with CEQA. (*NASSEPA*, 120 Cal.App.4th at 965.)

Division Three of the Fourth Appellate District rejected petitioners' claims:

"The California Constitution provides that the voters in a city may exercise initiative powers 'under procedures that the Legislature shall provide.' Section 9214 is part of the statutory scheme set out by the Legislature A city's duty to adopt a qualified voter-sponsored initiative, or place it on the ballot, is ministerial and mandatory. . . .

"Furthermore, attempts to amend the Elections Code to subject voter-sponsored initiatives to CEQA control have failed."

(NASSEPA, 120 Cal.App.4th at 966; 968.)

The present case involves facts virtually identical to those in *NASSEPA*. Grinnell and the voters circulated and qualified a voter-sponsored Initiative pursuant to Elections Code sections 9200 *et seq*.

When the qualified Initiative was presented to the city council for consideration pursuant to Elections Code section 9214, the council adopted the Initiative pursuant to section 9214(a). However, in direct conflict with the *NASSEPA* decision, the Opinion invalidated the city council's adoption of the Initiative, holding that the City Council could not adopt the initiative under Elections Code section 9214(a) without first complying with CEQA:

"We conclude that when a city council uses Elections Code section 9214, subdivision (a), to approve a project by bypassing the voters and directly adopting an initiative that has been presented to it by petition, the voters' constitutional power of initiative cannot support a CEQA exemption for the project."

(Opinion, p. 15.) Thus, the Opinion creates a direct, irreconcilable conflict with the *NASSEPA* decision.

Moreover, the Opinion itself recognizes that it stands in direct conflict with the *NASSEPA* decision:

"We publish the portion of our opinion dealing with this issue *because it creates a split of authority*, as we respectfully decline to follow *Native American Sacred Site & Environmental Protection Assn. v. City of San Juan Capistrano* (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 961....

"After careful consideration, we have concluded that we disagree with *Native American Sacred Site*, which is the only authority squarely on point."

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