SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

S207173

SUPREME COURT

TUOLUMNE JOBS & SMALL BUSINESS ALLIANCE,

DEC 2 4 2012

Petitioner,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

VS.

Deputy

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF TUOLUMNE

Respondent,

WALMART STORES, INC., JAMES GRINNELL, AND THE CITY OF SONORA

Real Parties in Interest.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District Case No. F063849

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BRETT S. JOLLEY – SBN: 210072
HERUM CRABTREE
5757 Pacific Avenue, Suite 222
Stockton, CA 95207
Telephone: (209) 472-7700
Facsimile: (209) 472-7986
Email: bjolley@herumcrabtree.com
Attorneys for Petitioner
TUOLUMNE JOBS & SMALL BUSINESS ALLIANCE

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

Notwithstanding the limited appearance of this issue in only two reported appellate decisions since CEQA's inception in 1970, Walmart asserts that the issue is likely to recur. In support of this Walmart cites *Milpitas Coalition for a Better Community v. City of Milpitas* pending in the Sixth District Court of Appeal (No. H0838380) and another pending in San Bernardino Superior Court. Walmart Pet. at p. 4. What Walmart fails to disclose is that these two case involve not only the same issue but, for all intents and purposes, the same initiative and nearly identical facts. As with Sonora, Walmart supporters circulated nearly identical petitions which the respective city councils adopted without election or compliance with CEQA. Thus, to the extent this is a recurring issue that is the case only

² Two opinions have cited the case on other grounds. *MHC Financing Ltd. Partnership Two v. City of Santee* (2005) 125 Cal.App.4th 1372, 1383 cited *Native American Sacred Site* for the principle that a city's failure to either adopt a qualified voter initiative or place it on the ballot within the statutory time periods does not preclude the city from exercising its duty to take such action beyond the deadline. *Widders v. Furchtenicht* (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 769, 779 cited the case for the same proposition. TJSBA does not dispute and the Opinion does not upset this principle.

because Walmart has engineered the identical process in other communities. Walmart does not cite to any pending matters not involving its stores. And TJSBA is unaware of any further attempts by Walmart or its supports in 2011 or 2012 to authorize development via the process employed in Sonora. That is, this is not a process likely to be repeated by zealous city councils but rather a process that Walmart and/or its supporters have employed elsewhere (and no longer seem to pursue). Thus, the trilogy of cases allegedly showing a widespread issue is really limited to the common facts unique to those three disputes.

This situation should not give rise to review by this Court.

C. THE COURT OF APPEAL DECISION IS WELL REASONED AND FULLY ADDRESSED WALMART'S CLAIMS.

Walmart, et al. challenge the merits of the Opinion and urge this Court to adopt the *Native American Sacred Site* ruling as its own. TJSBA submits that the Opinion is well reasoned in reaching its conclusion, fully addresses all objections raised by Walmart and City during the appellate court proceedings, and need not be upset by this Court.

While *Native American Sacred Site* disposed of the issue and concluded the initiative in that situation was exempt from CEQA in a single-heading four page discussion, the Opinion's discussion of the issue includes 21 pages of analysis with 8 sub-headings and several sub-sub-headings explaining its reasoning and rebutting each and every concern raised by City and Walmart. Slip Op. pp. 8-28. This included addressing arguments raised by Walmart for the first time in oral argument. Slip. Op. p. 20, FN 5.

1. The Opinion Protects Rather than Hinders Reserved Initiative Rights.

Walmart starts by asserting that the Opinion would deprive people of the reserved power of initiative. Walmart Pet. P. 10-12. Yet this is simply false. The Opinion merely concludes that because the Sonora City Council decided to adopt the Initiative as its own rather than allow the electorate to weigh in the City Council cannot absolve itself of complying with CEQA. The Opinion applies this Court's decision in Friends of Sierra Madre v. City of Sierra Madre (2001) 25 Cal.4th 165 (which held the submission to the electors of a voter-generated initiative is exempt from CEQA but the submission of a city-generated initiative is not) and noted "even if an election is held [following a city council placing an initiative on the ballot] and a majority of voters expresses its will to let a project go forward, CEQA review is still required if it was the city council that chose to put the initiative on the ballot." Thus reasoned the appellate court, "It is even clearer that CEQA applies when a mere 15 percent of the voters has expressed support of the initiative and the city council chooses to approve the project without an election." Slip Op. p. 13.

Indeed the Opinion does not foster deprivation of the reserved right of initiative at all. Rather, if anything, it ensures those reserved rights by exempting only decisions by the electorate from CEQA compliance. "Real parties' argument on this point reveals, once again, their failure to appreciate the importance of elections in the initiative process. The results of an election represent the will of the people. A petition signed by 15 percent of the voters does not. Without an election, it simply is not possible to say that the people's will requires the important legislative objectives of CEQA to be set aside so a project can be expedited." Slip Op. at 27-28. If anything, the Opinion deters developers or public officials from enlisting registered voters to propose legislation for in order to circumvent CEQA all

the while upholding the rights of the people to enact legislation via elections.³

2. The Opinion Correctly Holds that Adopting an Initiative in Lieu of Holding an Election is Not Subject to a Ministerial Exemption from CEQA.

Walmart argues that "CEQA does not define 'ministerial'" and the Opinion runs afoul of *Mountain Lion Foundation v. Fish & Game Com.* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 105 and *Friends of Westwood, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles* (1987) 191 Cal.App.3d 259 by concluding the City's decision to adopt the Initiative is not subject to a ministerial exemption under Pub. Res.C. §21080 subd. (b)(1). Walmart Pet. p. at 13-15.

But CEQA Guideline §15369 does, in fact, define "ministerial" and the Opinion cited and relied on this definition in its analysis. Slip Op. at 16. As relevant, a ministerial decision is one "involving little or no personal judgment by the public official as to the wisdom or manner of carrying out the project...A ministerial decision involves only the use of fixed standards or objective measurements, and the public official cannot use personal,

Walmart and Grinnell also imply that the elections code controls and preempts compliance with state land use and environmental laws. Yet this argument fails to reconcile the holding of this Court and others that a zoning ordinance that conflicts with a general plan is "invalid at the time it is passed," regardless of whether it is adopted by the legislative body or approved by the electorate through the initiative process. *Lesher Communications Inc. v. City of Walnut Creek* (1990) 52 Cal.3d 531, 544. *See also, deBottari v. City Council* (1985) 171 Cal.App.3d 1204, 1213 ("Judicial deference to the electoral process does not compel judicial apathy towards patently invalid legislative acts. Nor are we persuaded that a zoning ordinance inconsistent with the general plan constitutes little more than a mere technical infirmity. On the contrary, the requirement of consistency is the linchpin of California's land use and development laws…")

subjective judgment is deciding whether or how the project should be carried out." CEQA Guideline §15369. And critical here – the City Council rather than the electorate made the ultimate decision to carry out the project.

The Opinion explains, "A city council's decision about whether to approve a development project or instead to let the voters make the decision is not 'ministerial' under this definition...It is a policy decision supported on the one side by many considerations relevant to whether the project is good for the community and on the other side by all the reasons why it might be desirable for the voters to be able to make the decision for themselves. It also involves a weighing of the costs of holding an election against its benefits. Even real party in interest Grinnell recognizes, in his informal response, (albeit in another context), that the council's decision whether to adopt the initiative or hold an election is 'political.' He says, '[a] city council may base its decision on its perception of the will of its constituents, economic considerations, policy, budget or any of the myriad of other considerations which go ingot political decisions.' The role of all these considerations shows that the decision was not ministerial." Slip Op. p. 16.

The Opinion continues, "The definition in Guidelines section 15369 specifies that an action is ministerial if public official cannot use discretion or judgment in deciding 'whether or how the project should be carried out.' Here, the city council did decide that the project should be carried out, and in so doing used its discretion and political judgment in concluding that the decision about whether it should be carried out or not should be left to the electorate." Slip Op. at 17 (emphasis in original). That is, the elected officials rather than the electorate made the final decision to carry out the project by approving the Initiative and, as such, that decision is not exempt

from CEQA. And nothing in that reasoning conflicts with the holdings in *Mountain Lion Foundation* or *Friends of Westwood*.

D. THE PETITIONS ASK THE COURT TO ENGAGE IN A LEGISLATIVE CAPACITY.

The petitions for review really ask this Court to articulate a new CEQA exemption not found in the statute or the Guidelines: an exemption when a public agency adopts land use entitlements proposed by developers through the initiative process. Yet such a request ultimately conflicts with Public Resources Code section 21083.1 which states: "It is the intent of the Legislature that courts, consistent with generally accepted rules of statutory interpretation, shall not interpret this division or the state guidelines... in a manner which imposes procedural or substantive requirements beyond those explicitly stated in this division or in the state guidelines."

To the extent the Opinion brings to light an imperfect confluence of state elections statutes and state environmental statutes, under the doctrine of separation of powers, the legislature should be given the opportunity to cure the legislative imperfections rather than asking the judiciary to assume this role as Walmart now does. As this Court explains, "The California Constitution establishes a system of state government in which power is divided among three coequal branches (Cal. Const., art. IV, § 1 [legislative power]; Cal. Const., art. V, § 1 [executive power]; Cal. Const., art. VI, § 1 [judicial power]), and further states that those charged with the exercise of one power may not exercise any other (Cal. Const., art. III, § 3). Notwithstanding these principles, it is well understood that the branches share common boundaries (*Hustedt v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1981) 30 Cal.3d 329, 338, 178 Cal.Rptr. 801, 636 P.2d 1139), and no sharp line between their operations exists." *People v. Bunn* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1, 14.

To this end, "separation of powers principles compel courts to effectuate the purpose of enactments [citation], and limit judicial efforts to rewrite statutes even where drafting or constitutional problems may appear. [citations] The judiciary may be asked to decide whether a statute is arbitrary or unreasonable for constitutional purposes [citation], but no inquiry into the 'wisdom' of underlying policy choices is made [citation]." *Id.* at 16-17.

In enacting both CEQA and Elections Code §9214, the Legislature has expressed its determination that both statutes represent important policies affecting the public interest. CEQA, itself, include numerous legislative policy declarations regarding the importance of maintaining environmental quality for the people (Public Resources Code section 21000, subd. (a)-(d)), ensuring "that major consideration is given to preventing environmental damage" (*Id.*, subd. (g)), and ensuring that CEQA "is an integral part of any public agency's decision making process." Public Resources Code section 21006.

The Opinion merely applies these overarching policies and attempts to best harmonize both statutes to without doing violence to either. Walmart, et al. ask this Court to do the opposite and declare one legislative policy (enacting initiative without election) superior to the other (protecting the environment). The success of this argument ultimately hinges around the Supreme Court acting in a legislative capacity by challenging the "wisdom of the underlying policy choices" and choosing one legislative policy over the other. Rather than pursue this endeavor, TJSBA submits the better course of action is to allow the legislature to evaluate and cure any perceived disharmony between the two statutes stemming from the appellate court's opinion in the way the legislature deems most appropriate.

E. THE PENDING CASE IS STILL IN THE PLEADING STAGES AND SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO PROCEED TO FINAL JUDGMENT.

It is important to reiterate that the case is still in the pleading stages and the Opinion merely allows TJSBA to take its first cause of action forward to judgment on the merits after trial. That is, the court of appeal did not review a judgment rendered after a hearing on the merits of TJSBA's action. Instead, the appellate court merely issued a writ of mandate directed to the trial court overruling its dismissal one of the causes of action at the pleading stages. The trial court already overruled the demurrer as to the second cause of action -- which will proceed to a hearing on the merits/bench trial whether or not review is granted -- and which decision was not challenged by Walmart, et al. The appellate court's decision now merely allows two of the four causes of action to proceed to trial and final judgment from which an appeal may be taken by any dissatisfied party. Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.100. Walmart fails to explain why it did not object to the second cause of action proceeding to judgment on the merits but now adamantly objects to the first cause of action following the parallel path.

As relevant here, the standard of review for sustaining demurrer without leave to amend on a CEQA cause of action is markedly different from the standard of review for upholding the decision of a public agency on the merits. This Court imposes the following standard of review in considering a trial court's order sustaining demurrer without leave to amend: "The reviewing court gives the complaint a reasonable interpretation, and treats the demurrer as admitting all material facts properly pleaded. [Citations.] The court does not, however, assume the truth of contentions, deductions or conclusions of law. [Citation.] The judgment must be affirmed 'if any one of the several grounds of demurrer

is well taken. [Citations.]' [Citation.] However, it is error for a trial court to sustain a demurrer when the plaintiff has stated a cause of action under any possible legal theory. [Citation.] And it is an abuse of discretion to sustain a demurrer without leave to amend if the plaintiff shows there is a reasonable possibility any defect identified by the defendant can be cured by amendment. [Citation.]" *Aubry v. Tri–City Hospital Dist.* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 962, 966–967, 9 Cal.Rptr.2d 92, 831 P.2d 317.

In contrast, in reviewing a judgment on appeal regarding a CEOA challenge, the reviewing court must determine whether the agency prejudicially abused its discretion. "[A]n agency may abuse its discretion under CEQA either by failing to proceed in the manner CEQA provides or by reaching factual conclusions unsupported by substantial evidence. (§ 21168.5.) Judicial review of these two types of error differs significantly: while we determine de novo whether the agency has employed the correct procedures, 'scrupulously enforc[ing] all legislatively mandated CEQA requirements' (Citizens of Goleta Valley v. Board of Supervisors (1990) 52 Cal.3d 553, 564, 276 Cal.Rptr. 410, 801 P.2d 1161), we accord greater deference to the agency's substantive factual conclusions. In reviewing for substantial evidence, the reviewing court 'may not set aside an agency's approval of an EIR on the ground that an opposite conclusion would have been equally or more reasonable,' for, on factual questions, our task 'is not to weigh conflicting evidence and determine who has the better argument." Vineyard Area Citizens for Responsible Growth, Inc. v. City of Rancho Cordova (2007) 40 Cal.4th 412, 435.

Walmart, et al. urged the appellate court to summarily deny the petition for writ of mandate on the basis that TJSBA's claim was premature and unnecessarily delayed prosecution of the case and therefore should be addressed on appeal. Slip Op. p. 6. They now abandon this philosophy in zealously encouraging this Court to grant review of the appellate court's

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